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   THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

NARRATIVE REPORT 

Introduction 

This narrative report provides a guide to the Council’s accounts and financial position as at 31 
March 2022. It includes: 

● An explanation of each of the main financial statements; 
● A look back at financial and non-financial performance in 2021/22; 
● Any major events or changes in presentation and accounting that impact on the Accounts; 

and 
● Future financial challenges. 

Explanation of the main financial statements 

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the Statement of Accounts to be prepared and 
signed by the responsible officer by 31 May 2022, however for 2021/22 this deadline has been 
extended to 31 July. The accounts are set out on pages 17 to 94. The statements have been 
prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices and all relevant statutory requirements. 

Proper accounting practices represent compliance with the following: 

● All relevant International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB - a constituent board of the Financial Reporting Council) 

● The CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom, prepared 
under International Financial Reporting Standards 

The statements are produced using figures rounded to the nearest thousand. This has led to 
rounding variances in some of the totals included within the statements and the notes to the 
accounts. 

The Statement of Accounts comprises: 

● The Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 

This sets out the Council’s and the Chief Finance Officer’s responsibilities for the statement of 
accounts and includes the Chief Finance Officer’s certificate. 

● Core Financial Statements 

The core financial statements consist of the following four statements and associated notes. 

● Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

This Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from 
taxation. Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this 
may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. 

● Balance Sheet 
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The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the Council. The net assets of the Council (assets less liabilities) are matched 
by the reserves held by the Council. Reserves are reported in two categories – usable and 
unusable – as referred to under the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

● Movement in Reserves Statement 

This Statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the 
Council, analysed into usable reserves (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or 
reduce local taxation) and unusable reserves. The '(surplus) or deficit on provision of 
services' line shows the true economic cost of providing the Council's services, more details 
of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. These are 
different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance for 
Council Tax setting. The 'net (increase) /decrease before transfers to earmarked reserves' 
line shows the statutory General Fund Balance before any discretionary transfers to or from 
earmarked reserves undertaken by the Council. 

● Cash Flow Statement 

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in the Council’s cash and cash equivalent 
holdings during the reporting period. The statement shows how the Council generates and 
uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and 
financing activities. 

● Notes to the Core Financial Statements 

The notes present information about the basis of preparation of the financial statements and 
the specific accounting policies used. The notes also disclose information required by the 
Code that is not presented elsewhere in the financial statements but is relevant to 
understanding them. 

● Supplementary Financial Statements 

In addition to the four core statements the following supplementary statements and associated 
notes are included within the Accounts. 

● Housing Revenue Account 

The Council is required by law to account separately for the provision of housing. This 
account shows the major elements of housing revenue expenditure: repairs and maintenance, 
administration and financing costs as well as how the expenditure is financed from rents, 
grants and other income. The HRA Income and Expenditure Statement is supported by a 
Movement on the HRA Statement. 

● Collection Fund 

The Collection Fund for English Authorities is an agent’s statement that reflects the statutory 
obligation for billing authorities to maintain a separate Collection Fund. The statement shows 
the transactions of the billing authority in relation to the collection from taxpayers and 
distribution to local authorities and the Government of council tax and non-domestic rates. 

● Group Accounts 
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The Council has full ownership of a subsidiary company – Canterbury Environment 
Company.  Group accounts are prepared combining the financial statements of the company 
with Canterbury City Council. The group account figures are not currently materially different 
to that of the Council, but as the company delivers large contracts on behalf of the Council, 
group accounts are considered to be qualitatively material. 

● Annual Governance Statement 

This Statement accompanies the Statement of Accounts, but is not part of the Accounts. The 
purpose of the Annual Governance Statement is to assess and demonstrate that there is a sound 
system of corporate governance throughout the organisation. 

● Independent Auditor’s Report 

The Council’s external auditors provide an independent opinion on whether the financial 
statements present a “true and fair view” of the financial position of the Council at the Balance 
Sheet date and its income and expenditure for the year. They also report on whether the Council 
has made proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of 
resources. 

Looking back at performance in 2021/22 

The year started with the country still in partial lockdown and ended with the Council facing the 
challenges of increasing inflation and staff shortages. 

The government continued to ask local authorities to fulfil additional duties to support local 
businesses and individuals through the recovery, including the continuation of CV-19 grants 
programmes started in 2020/21, as well as new grant schemes including the Omicron variant 
grants for hospitality and leisure industry, restart grants, the Household support grants scheme 
and self-isolation payments. Closely followed by and carrying into 2022/23 distributing the Covid 
Additional Relief Fund for businesses and the Energy Rebate Scheme for households. 

When restrictions were lifted, council facilities were re-opened under covid secure arrangements, 
with additional cleaning arrangements and social distancing. The permanent lifting of lockdown in 
July 2021 added its own pressures, with a big increase in the number of visitors to coastal areas 
of the district. Whilst lockdown restrictions were eased, levels of covid infections varied through 
the year as new variants emerged, putting pressure on services that are delivered in person, 
such as refuse collection. 

As well as managing the impact of the pandemic, the Council, together with the other councils, 
supported refugees from Afghanistan temporarily housed in the district and also supported local 
families to provide accommodation for people displaced by the war in Ukraine. 

After transferring its refuse collection and street cleansing service into a wholly owned local 
authority company in February 2021, the Council transferred its grounds maintenance and 
associated works into the company from 1 December 2021. This required significant support from 
across the Council. The overall aim of the project is to increase service flexibility and to improve 
the quality of services to residents. 

The Council also transferred its HR service in-house in September 2021. 

The Council implemented a new management structure from July 2021, to reflect its new way of 
delivering services, with a key focus on customer service delivery. Following the announcement 
by the Chief Executive that he would be retiring, in December 2021 the Council agreed that a 
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new senior management structure would operate from 1 April 2022, which does not have a chief 
executive post. Instead, three strategic directors work together with one of them being designated 
Head of Paid Service. 

Finally, also in December 2021, the Council agreed that it would move from a committee 
governance system to a cabinet system, with effect from the new Council year in May 2022. 

Financial performance in 2021/22 

This section gives an overview of the financial performance of the Council in 2021/22 for both the 
General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account, including reasons for significant variations 
from planned expenditure. 

The pandemic continued to dominate the Council’s financial performance in 2021/22 and the 
Council had to manage huge financial uncertainty and risk. 

As the effects of the pandemic entered into its second year, services started to recover at varying 
rates and it became difficult to predict the rate of recovery.  However the likely year end position 
was assessed as part of the budget setting process for 2021/22. At that stage it was estimated 
that the use of reserves to balance the budget for 2021/22 would require £4.3m from the budget 
stabilisation reserve. 

The government extended its support to local government for losses of income from sales, fees 
and charges into the first quarter of 2021/22. This was essential support in the transition back to 
recovery as the impact of the pandemic continued into 2021/22. 

Throughout the huge uncertainty of last two financial years, the Council worked to minimise 
expenditure in all areas and the capital programme was reviewed with some areas 
paused. However there was significant capital expenditure on the Riverside development and the 
Kingsmead Field housing development. 

The final outturn for the General Fund was an underspend of £438,000 after the government 
support funding and contributions to reserves. The actual use of reserves to balance the budget 
for 2021/22 was as per the budget allocated, however further contributions to reserves were also 
made, resulting in a net contribution to reserve. Getting to this position is a major achievement 
and will have positive benefits for the Council’s financial resilience in the forthcoming years. 

The job market is currently very buoyant and the Council has struggled to recruit to certain 
positions or get the right person with the right level of skills. Throughout the year staff turnover 
has also increased to over 20%. This means that although there are savings made through 
these vacancies, resources are overstretched at a time when additional demands are put on local 
authorities to support the wider economic recovery. In some cases agency staff were employed, 
but at a higher cost than permanent recruitment. 

For the Housing Revenue Account, at quarter three it was forecast that the year end position 
would be a £1,818,000 deficit by the year end. The actual position was slightly better at a 
£1,659,000 deficit but this was still significantly worse than the budgeted deficit position of 
£251,000. 

2. Details of major variances against outturn - General Fund budget 

8 



The outturn position includes the allocation of contributions to reserves for grants received during 
the year to support the CV-19 loss of income. 

The reasons for variances are shown below. The table below shows the outturn position by 
service 

COVID-19 

From March 2020 onwards the Covid 19 pandemic has had a profound impact on Council 
services and local residents and businesses. It continues to have a significant adverse impact on 
the Council’s finances and its reserve balances. 

Specific issues affecting the financial statements for 2021/22 include: 

● Greater uncertainty over the valuation of all types of property, plant and equipment. The 
impact of COVID-19 has been discussed with our valuers and we now believe greater 
certainty can be placed on the valuations in these statements compared to the previous two 
years; 

● Pension fund assets and liabilities – the scheme has been assessed by Barnett Waddingham, 
an independent firm of actuaries. Further information relating to the pension scheme can be 
found in Note 28; 

● Collectability of debt – it is prudent to establish a provision (impairment allowance) for 
non-payment of debt. Further details on the impairment allowance can be found in Note 14. 

General Fund Revenue Expenditure 

The General Fund accounts for all revenue (day to day) services other than those provided in 
respect of council housing. 

In overall terms, the outturn position can be reconciled to the original budget position as set out 
below. 

The main components of the General Fund actual expenditure and income and how these 
compare with budget is set out below by service: 
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The main variances between the budget and the outturn are set out below by service. 

Activity Variance 
(£000) 

()=favourable 

Explanation of variance between 
emergency budget and outturn 

Property and 
Regeneration 

387 The variance is mainly due to income 
shortfalls, mainly at Wincheap but across 
the property portfolio due to Covid 19. This 
is expected to continue into 2022/23. 

Parking – car parks (728) Off street parking recovered more quickly 
than anticipated. The budget for 2022/23 is 
set at a higher level than that for 2021/22. 

Parking – park & ride 625 The park and ride activity has not recovered 
in line with other parking income. The Sturry 
Road site is being temporarily closed in 
2022/23 to reduce the net cost of this 
service. 

Community Safety (322) LIfeline income was higher than budgeted 
as was the penalty charge income. 

Homelessness 15 Whilst the homelessness net budget was 
balanced, expenditure at £3.9m was more 
than double the budget. This was matched 
by a similar increase in income, but 
illustrates the cost pressures in this area 
and financial risk if grant income is not 
secured. 
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Housing Revenue Expenditure 

The main components of the Housing Revenue Account actual expenditure and income and how 
these compare with budgets are set out below: 

The overall revenue outturn position for 2021/22 was a deficit of £1.7m an increase of £1.4m on 
the £251k budgeted deficit. The explanations for the main variance to the budget are set out 
below. 

Activity Variance 
(£000) 

()=favourable 

Explanation 

General 
management 

801 The transition from EKH has taken more time and resources 
than originally expected, due to a number of legacy issues 
that have required investigation and resolution. Planned 
savings of £500,000 have therefore not been achieved. 

There were a number of staff vacancies during the year that 
were difficult to fill. More expensive temporary staff have 
therefore had to be employed, so the planned vacancy 
saving of £100,000 was not achieved. Improvements to the 
asset management service and better contract management 
should address some of these isuses. 

Special services (309) A number of CCTV systems across the stock are obsolete 
so no payment was made to the General Fund for this 
service (£112,000). 

Repairs and 
maintenance 

889 There was additional expenditure of £548,000 on 
compliance and servicing, £364,000 on repairs and 
£290,000 on voids. Tighter contract management is in place, 
but inflation increases means that repairs and maintenance 
work remains an area of high financial risk for 2022/23. 

Bad debt 
provision 

(203) The increase required to the provision was less than 
anticipated when the budget was set. 
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Rent and 
service charges 

557 When the budget was set it was expected that the Council 
would have been able to progress with its decision to 
introduce affordable rents for some of its properties. Also, 
additional housing was expected to come into use at 
Parham and Kingsmead Field. The Parham properties were 
handed over in February 2022 and the Kingsmead 
properties should be completed by September 2022. 

Capital charges (334) Borrowing costs were lower than anticipated as was 
depreciation. 

Capital Expenditure 

General Fund Capital Expenditure 

Capital expenditure relates to spending on assets which last for more than one year. The capital 
programme for 2021/22 and beyond represents the investment priorities for the Council. The 
revenue impact of implementing the capital programme is reflected in the revenue budget. 

The City Council’s gross expenditure on capital schemes in 2021/22 was £17.4m. This was 
financed by grants, capital receipts and reserves. The net outturn position of the capital 
programme after external contributions is detailed in the table below. 

The main expenditure items in 2021/22 were the continuation of the Canterbury Riverside 
development, Kingsmead Field Housing and the purchase of waste vehicles. Some of the 
planned expenditure on waste vehicles in 2022/23 was brought forward to 2021/22 and the 
budget adjusted as part of budget setting for 2022/23. 
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HRA Capital Expenditure 

The 2021/22 and 2022/23 capital programmes were both set for each individual year only and 
contained no projections for following years because of the need to review the many elements of 
the budget including planned maintenance and development programmes, now that the service 
has been brought in-house. The capital programme going forward is currently being developed 
as we continue to gain a much better understanding of the condition of the Council's housing and 
build robust data on this. 

£5,300,000 was budgeted for planned maintenance and improvement in 2021/22 across the 
capital projects listed in the table above. This was to be allocated to specific budget lines for the 
capital works required in-year as identified and in the light of stock condition surveys and the 
Asset Management Strategy. The overall budget was constantly monitored throughout the year 
and allocated to the planned maintenance and improvement requirements as they were 
identified. However budgets were not constantly realigned to the allocated spend hence the 
various under and over spends shown across the schemes. Budgets for the projects at 39 Castle 
Street, Canterbury and Middle Wall, Whitstable were built into the 2022/23 capital programme 
based on estimated slippage and costs at that time but the slippage from 2021/22 is required to 
complete the projects in 2022/23. 

There is a total unbudgeted spend of £80,000 across housing development projects due to 
development potential assessments and financial viability studies being undertaken on Council 
land across the district. 146 plots across the district have been assessed during the last two 
years. Architects and pre-application planning advice is currently being sought on two potential 
development sites at East Street, Canterbury (Sturry Road Social Club) and Warwick Road, 
Canterbury. Many of the other plots being identified are unlikely to be suitable for housing 
development due to their small size, but it is expected that they will produce a modest pipeline of 
ongoing development activity in the short to medium term. 
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Slippage of £34,000 is required for the ongoing work in upgrading the housing IT system to meet 
the needs of the service. 

The second phase of the Parham Road, Canterbury project was affected by a number of 
unforeseen issues including roofs and cladding. These issues were not discoverable through the 
survey that was undertaken prior to purchase and have contributed to the £881,000 overspend 
on the project and delay in the completion.The final properties were handed over in February 
2022 but there is an ongoing dispute still to be resolved with the contractor as to the final 
valuation for the works completed. Discussions are currently being held with specialist and legal 
advisors but the Council may potentially have to consider facing an adjudication process. The 
financial implications of this are not yet known. 

£1,400,000 for the purchase of five properties at Kingsmead Field, which was planned for in 
2021/22 has been delayed and reprogrammed for completion in September 2022. Slippage is not 
required as the delay was known at the time the 2022/23 budgets were set and a budget was 
allocated for these purchases. 

Balance sheet 

The Council's net assets remained unchanged at £358m as at 31 March 2022. The main 
changes year on year were: 

● a reduction of £17m in the value of council dwellings; 
● a reduction in the value of land and buildings (excluding council dwellings) of £5m, due to the 

current economic challenges, offset by a £5m increase in vehicles plant and equipment due 
to the purchase of fleet vehicles for Canenco; 

● an increase in current assets of £15m matched by an increase in current liabilities of £16m 
due to CV19 grant payments; 

● increased cashflow led to reductions in both short term and long term borrowing (planned 
principle repayments were made and no new long term loans taken out); short term 
borrowing is expected to increase in 2022/23 as CV19 grants have broadly finished; 

● a reduction of £4m in reserves, though this includes £11m relating to deferred business rates 
payments, which were paid to other bodies; and 

● a decrease in the pension deficit of £3m. 

The two biggest liabilities on the balance sheet are long term borrowing at £163m and the 
pension deficit at £88m, both of which have reduced this year. The majority of the Council's debt 
is with the Public Works Loan Board at a fixed rate of interest, with an average of 2.29%. The 
Council has continued its policy of using short term borrowing to partly fund its capital 
programme. This has reduced borrowing costs but exposes the Council to interest rate variations. 

Overall the Council’s balance sheet has become less liquid over time, as capital expenditure has 
been funded from capital receipts, withdrawing from short term investments and short term 
external borrowing. In the medium and longer term, as internal borrowing and short term 
borrowing is repaid, the Council’s liquidity will improve. This year has shown a further increase in 
liquidity but this is due to the impact of CV19 grants and relief schemes. 

The Council is a member of the Local Government Pension Scheme, which is administered on 
behalf of the Council by Kent County Council. The Statement of Accounts reflects the full 
adoption of International Accounting Standard 19 (Retirement Benefits) (IAS19). This value is 
assessed by the actuary in accordance with prescribed accounting rules. Note 28 shows that the 
total value of liabilities (i.e. future commitments from the fund) is the Council's net liability of 
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£256m whereas the estimated assets are valued at £168m leading to a net deficit of £88m. The 
deficit has decreased by £3m. 

It is important to note that IAS 19 does not have any impact on the actual level of employer 
contributions. Employers’ levels of contribution are determined by triennial actuarial valuations, 
which are based on the Fund’s actual investment strategy (rather than being based on corporate 
bond yields). 

The scheme has been assessed by Barnett Waddingham, an independent firm of actuaries, on 
behalf of Kent County Council based upon the full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2019. 
The fund is next due for revaluation as at 31 March 2022 and new contribution rates will apply 
from April 2023. 

Significant changes to local authority financial regime in 2021/22 

There have been no significant changes to the local authority financial regime in 2021/22. 

Future challenges 

General 

The future for local government funding remains very uncertain, with no information available on 
funding from April 2023 onwards. In setting out its medium term financial plan (MTFS) the 
Council has assumed reductions in government funding. 

The budget strategy is intended to ensure that the Council has a balanced and sustainable 
budget that provides the financial resources needed to implement its key priorities. The Strategy 
runs to the end of the current Council term only. 

The items set out below are considered the main issues that will have an impact on the Council’s 
budget strategy and financial planning in the medium term. 

Covid-19 - Looking at the current financial year, the impact of the pandemic is still seen 
throughout the Council's finances. Income has continued to improve, albeit not to pre-pandemic 
levels and without the government support grant, in 2022/23, it is imperative to continue to 
monitor future assumptions of recovery levels. The impact on rental income in particular is likely 
to extend to the medium term. 

Inflation and energy prices - As inflation levels continue to increase, this will have a significant 
impact on all areas of services in 2022/23 and beyond, only adding to an existing volatile financial 
situation. The Council’s direct costs are affected as are contract prices across the board. The 
2021/22 outturn and underspends will help to support future spending. 

Staffing – Staff shortages mean that the Council may struggle to deliver its services and will be 
paying higher pay rates than previously estimated. Higher staff turnover reduces corporate 
knowledge and requires investment in recruitment and induction. Contract prices and delivery will 
also be affected by the economy wide staff shortages. 

Borrowing costs – Increasing interest rates will have an impact on future borrowing costs. 
Virtually all existing loans are on a fixed interest basis so are not affected. 
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Risk management 

The Audit Committee considers the Council’s risk register on a quarterly basis. For each risk 
identified, the Committee considers the mitigating action in place and whether further action is 
required to adequately manage the risk. None of the high level risks are expected to have a 
material impact on the Council’s financial position. 

Financial risks are assessed separately in detail in the budget report and are taken into account 
in budget assumptions as necessary. 

Conclusions 

In another very challenging year, the City Council has substantially delivered its financial plan for 
2021/22 and preparatory work is in place to deliver further savings in future years whilst 
continuing to strive to minimise the impact on services. 

I would like to take the opportunity to thank all staff within the Council for their efforts in delivering 
the Council’s financial plans this year. That work has put the Council in the best possible position 
to deal with the serious financial challenges facing the Council in 2022/23 onwards. 

Thanks are due in particular to the finance team for their work producing this Statement of 
Accounts at a time when their workload substantially exceeded their capacity. 

Nicci Mills 
Head of Finance and Procurement and s151 officer 
30/06/2022 
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Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the year ended 31 March 2022 

This statement shows the accounting cost of providing services in the year ended 31 March 2022, in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from 
taxation. The taxation position is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

2020/21 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement Cost of Services has been re-stated to reflect 
the Council’s organisational re-structure that took place during 2021/22. The re-statement does not change 
total gross expenditure and total income figures. Note 33 illustrates the change to the previously published 
Cost of Services results. 
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Movement in Reserves Statement 

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Council, analysed into 'usable reserves' (i.e. those that can be 
applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other reserves. The Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services line shows the true 
economic cost of providing the Council's services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
These are different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance and Housing Revenue Account for council tax 
setting and dwellings rent setting purposes. The net increase or decrease before transfers to/from earmarked reserves line shows the statutory 
General Fund balance and Housing Revenue Account balance before any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the 
Council. 
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Cash Flow Statement 

The Cash Flow Statement shows the Council's changes in cash and cash equivalents during the reporting 
period. The statement shows how the Council generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by 
classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising 
from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Council are funded by 
council tax and grant income or from the users of services provided by the Council. Investing activities 
represent the extent to which outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute to 
the Council's future service delivery. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Expenditure and Funding Analysis for the year ended 31 March 2022 

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources 
(government grants, rents, council tax and business rates) by local authorities in comparison with those 
resources consumed or earned in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows 
how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the Council’s services. Income 
and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Details of the adjustments can be found in note 7. 
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1. Accounting Policies 

1.1 General Principles 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council's transactions for the 2021/22 financial year and its 
position at the year-end of 31 March 2022. The Council is required to prepare an annual Statement of 
Accounts by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, which those Regulations require to be prepared in 
accordance with proper accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22 and the Service Reporting Code of Practice 
2021/22, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, modified by 
the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments. 

1.1.1 Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Information 

Relevance - in accordance with IAS 8 (Accounting Polices, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors) 
the objective of the principal statements is to provide information on the Council’s financial performance that 
is useful for assessing the stewardship of public funds and for making economic decisions. 

Reliability - the financial information can be depended upon to represent accurately the substance of the 
transactions that have taken place. The Accounts are unbiased, free from material error, have been 
prepared in a prudent manner and have included all issues that would assist users to make adequate 
decisions on the Council’s financial standing. 

Comparability - the Accounts contain comparative information about the Council so that performance may 
be compared with a prior period. 

Understandability - although a reasonable knowledge of accounting and local government is required, all 
efforts have been made in the preparation of the financial statements to ensure that they are as easy to 
understand as possible. 

Materiality - an item of information is material to the Accounts if its misstatement or omission might 
reasonably be expected to influence assessments of the Council’s stewardship and economic decisions. 

1.1.2 Accounting Concepts 

Going concern – it is assumed that the Council will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future and accordingly the Accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

Accruals - the financial statements, other than the Cash Flow Statement, have been prepared on an 
accruals basis. The accruals basis requires the non-cash effects of transactions to be reflected in the 
financial statements for the accounting period in which those effects are experienced and not in the period 
in which any cash is received or paid. 

Primacy of legislation - local authorities derive their power from statute and their financial and accounting 
framework is closely controlled by legislation. Where there is conflict between a legal requirement and an 
accounting standard, the legal requirement will take precedence. 

1.2 Accruals of Income and Expenditure 

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or 
received. In particular: 

• Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the provision of goods, is 
recognised when (or as) the goods or services are transferred to the service recipient in accordance 
with the performance obligations in the contract. 
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• Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap between the 
date supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as inventories on the Balance 
Sheet. 

• Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are recorded 
as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are made. 

• Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for respectively as 
income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial 
instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract. 

Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor or 
creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. 

An exception to this principle relates to electricity and similar utility costs. This policy is consistently applied 
each year and therefore does not have a material effect on the year’s accounts. Where debts may not be 
settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not 
be collected. 

Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates 

The Council is a billing authority and, as such, is required to bill local residents and businesses for council 
tax and national non-domestic (business) rates. The Council collects council tax on behalf of the major 
precepting authorities - Kent County Council, Kent Police and Crime Commissioner, and Kent Fire and 
Rescue Service. The Council therefore acts as agent on behalf of these major preceptors. These accounts 
only show the amount owed to/from taxpayers in respect of council tax demanded by this Council. Amounts 
owing to/from taxpayers for council tax for major precepting authorities are shown as net debtors or 
creditors on the balance sheet. 

Billing authorities are required by statute to maintain a separate fund (ie the Collection Fund) for the 
collection and distribution of amounts due in respect of council tax and NDR. Under the legislative 
framework for the Collection Fund, billing authorities and major preceptors share proportionately the risks 
and rewards that the amount of council tax and NDR collected could be less or more than predicted. 

The amounts shown as council tax/business rates in the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income line of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) represent the amounts due to this Council for 
the year. However, regulations determine the amount of council tax and NDR that must be included in the 
Council’s General Fund. Therefore, the difference between the income included in the CIES and the 
amount required by regulation to be credited to the General Fund is taken to the Collection Fund 
Adjustment Account and included as a reconciling item in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

Other material revenue streams 

The Council has a number of other material revenue streams and the approach to recognition is on an 
accruals basis as set out above with the following exceptions: 

Parking income – cash received through parking machines is accounted for on the day on which it is 
collected. Busy parking machines are emptied on a daily basis. 

Planning fee income – fees received are accounted for on a cash basis. 

1.3 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty of 
notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature in no more 
than three months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 
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In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Council's cash management. 

1.4 Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors 

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material 
error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years 
affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment. 

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the change 
provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events and conditions 
on the Council's financial position or financial performance. Where a change is made, it is applied 
retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the 
prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. 

Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 

1.5 Contingent Liabilities 

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible obligation 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the Council. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would 
otherwise be made but either it is not probable that costs will be required or the amount of the obligation 
cannot be measured reliably. 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts. 

1.6 Charges to Revenue for Non-current Assets 

Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of 
holding non-current assets during the year: 

• Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service 
• Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no accumulated 

gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written off 
• Amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service. 

The Council is not required to raise Council Tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses or 
amortisation. However, it is required to make annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its 
overall borrowing requirement. Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses and amortisation are 
therefore replaced by the contribution in the General Fund Balance (Minimum Revenue Provision) by way 
of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for 
the difference between the two. 

1.7 Employee Benefits 

1.7.1 Benefits payable during employment 

Short term employee benefits are those due to be settled wholly within 12 months of the year-end. They 
include such benefits as salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave for current employees and are 
recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render service to the Council. An 
accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) earned by 
employees but not taken before the year end which employees can carry forward into the next financial 
year. The accrual is made at the salary rates applicable in the following accounting year, being the period 
in which the employee takes the benefit. The accrual is charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services, but then reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday entitlements 
are charged to revenue in the financial year in which the holiday absence occurs. 
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1.7.2 Termination Benefits 

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to terminate an officer's 
employment before the normal retirement date or an officer's decision to accept voluntary redundancy in 
exchange for those benefits and are charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service or, where 
applicable, to a corporate service segment in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement at the 
earlier of when the Council can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the Council 
recognises costs for a restructuring. 

Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the General 
Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension fund or pensioner in the 
year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in 
Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional 
debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and replace them with debits for the cash 
paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year end. 

1.7.3 Post-employment Benefits (Pension Costs) 

Employees of the Council are members of the Local Government Pensions Scheme, administered by Kent 
County Council. 

The Local Government Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme. 

The liabilities of the Kent pension fund attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet on an 
actuarial basis using the projected unit method – i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be 
made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality 
rates, employee turnover rates etc and projections of projected earnings for current employees. 

Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices using a discount rate of 2.6% (based on the 
indicative rate of return on the Merrill Lynch AA rated corporate bond). 

The assets of Kent pension fund attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet at their fair 
value: 

• quoted securities – current bid price 
• unquoted securities – professional estimate 
• unitised securities – current bid price 
• property – market value 

The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 

i) Service cost comprising: 

Current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year – allocated in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employees worked. 

Past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect 
relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

ii) Net interest on the net defined benefit liability, ie net interest expense for the Council – the change 
during the period in the net defined benefit liability that arises from the passage of time charged to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement – this is calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation 
at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability at the beginning of the period – taking into 
account any changes in the net defined benefit liability during the period as a result of contribution and 
benefit payments. 
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iii) Re-measurement comprising 

The return on plan assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability – 
charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

Actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not 
coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated 
their assumptions – charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

iv) Contributions paid to the Kent Pension Fund – cash paid as employer's contributions to the pension 
fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an expense. 

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund Balance to be charged with 
the amount payable by the Council to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount 
calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this 
means that there are transfers to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits 
for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners 
and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. The negative balance that arises on the 
Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account 
for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees. 

1.7.4 Discretionary Benefit 

The Council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event of 
early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member of staff are 
accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for using the same policies as are 
applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme. 

1.8 Events after the Reporting Period 

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur 
between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for 
issue. Two types of events can be identified: 

• those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the 
Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events. 

• those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of 
Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a 
material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated 
financial effect. 

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts. 

1.9 Exceptional Items 

When items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount is disclosed separately, either on 
the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes to the accounts, 
depending on how significant the items are to an understanding of the Council's financial performance. 

1.10 Financial Instruments 

1.10.1 Financial Liabilities 

Financial Liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and are carried at 
their amortised cost. Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for interest payable are based on the carrying 
amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. The effective interest 
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rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over the life of the instrument to the 
amount at which it was originally recognised. 

This means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus 
accrued interest); and interest charged to the CIES is the amount payable for the year according to the loan 
agreement. 

Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited and debited to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES in the year of repurchase/settlement. 
However, where repurchase has taken place as part of a restructuring of the loan portfolio that involves the 
modification or exchange of existing instruments, the premium or discount is respectively deducted from or 
added to the amortised cost of the new or modified loan and write-down to the CIES is spread over the life 
of the loan by an adjustment to the effective interest rate. 

Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the CIES, regulations allow the impact on the 
General Fund Balance to be spread over future years. The Council has a policy of spreading the gain or 
loss over the term that was remaining on the loan against which the premium was payable or discount 
receivable when it was repaid. The reconciliation of amounts charged to the CIES to the net charge 
required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial Instruments 
Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

1.10.2 Financial Assets (Investments) 

Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that reflects the 
business model for holding the financial assets and their cashflow characteristics. Financial assets are 
classified into three types: 

• amortised cost 
• fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), and 
• fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

The Council’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows. Financial assets are 
therefore classified as amortised cost, except for those whose contractual payments are not solely payment 
of principal and interest (ie where the cash flows do not take the form of a debt instrument). 

Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair 
value. They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost. Annual credits to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES for interest receivable are based on the carrying 
amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the financial 
assets held by the Council, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding 
principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the CIES is the amount receivable for 
the year in the loan agreement. 

The Council has made a number of loans to voluntary organisations at less than market rates (soft loans). 
When soft loans are made, a loss is recorded in the CIES (debited to the appropriate service) for the 
present value of the interest that will be foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower 
amortised cost than the outstanding principal. Interest is credited to the Financing and Investment Income 
and Expenditure line in the CIES at a marginally higher effective rate of interest than the rate receivable 
from the voluntary organisations, with the difference serving to increase the amortised cost of the loan in 
the Balance Sheet. Statutory provisions require that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance 
is the interest receivable for the financial year – the reconciliation of amounts debited and credited to the 
CIES to the net gain required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the 
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

Any gains and losses that arise on the de-recognition of an asset are credited or debited to the Financing 
and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES. 
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Expected Credit Loss Model 

The Council recognises expected credit losses on all of its financial assets held at amortised cost either on 
a 12-month or lifetime basis. The expected credit loss model also applies to lease receivables and contract 
assets. Only lifetime losses are recognised for trade receivables (debtors). 

Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that the future cash flows might not take place 
because the borrower could default on their obligations. Credit risk plays a part in assessing losses. Where 
risk has increased significantly since an instrument was initially recognised, losses are assessed on a 
lifetime basis. Where risk has not increased significantly or remains low, losses are assessed on the basis 
of 12-month expected losses. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an 
individually assessed debtor balance, the debtor balance shall be included in a group of debtor balances 
that are individually assessed for impairment. 

Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVPL) 

Financial assets that are measured at FVPL are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured and 
carried at fair value. Fair value gains and losses are recognised as they arrive in the Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services. 

The fair value measurements of the financial assets are based on the following techniques: 

• instruments with quoted prices – the market price 
• other instruments with fixed and determinable payments – discounted cash flow analysis. 

The inputs to the measurement techniques are categorised in accordance with the following three levels: 

• Level 1 inputs – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets that the Council 
can access at the measurement date. 

• Level 2 inputs – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset, either directly or indirectly. 

• Level 3 inputs – unobservable inputs for the asset. 

Any gains or losses that arise on the derecognition of the asset are credited or debited to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

1.11 Government Grants and Contributions 

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions and 
donations are recognised as due to the Council when there is reasonable assurance that: 

• the Council will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and 
• the grants or contributions will be received. 

Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement until conditions attached to the grant or contribution have been satisfied. Conditions are 
stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset in the 
form of the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future 
economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor. 

Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in the 
Balance Sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the 
relevant service line (attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-specific Grant 
Income and Expenditure (non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 
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Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are 
reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the grant has 
yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve. Where it 
has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied 
reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital 
expenditure. 

1.12 Intangible Assets 

Expenditure on assets that do not have physical substance, but are controlled by the Council as a result of 
past events (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected to bring future economic benefits or 
service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the Council. 

Intangible assets are measured at cost as there is no active market against which to determine an 
alternative value. The balance is amortised (ie written down) to the relevant service revenue account on a 
straight-line basis over 5 years. Intangible assets are therefore included in the balance sheet at historical 
costs, net of the amount written-down to revenue. 

Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, amortisation 
is not permitted to have an impact on the General Fund Balance. The costs are therefore reversed out of 
the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment 
account. 

1.13 Interests in Companies and Other Entities 

Where the Council has a material interest in companies and other entities that have the nature of 
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities, group accounts will be prepared. 

In the Council's own single entity accounts, any interest in companies and other entities will be recorded as 
financial assets at cost, less any provision for losses. 

1.14 Inventories 

Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at actual cost or net realisable value if lower. 

1.15 Investment Property 

Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. The 
definition is not met if the property is used in any way to facilitate the delivery of services or production of 
goods or is held for sale. 

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, based on the amount at 
which the asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable parties at arm's-length. Properties are not 
depreciated but are revalued annually according to market conditions at the year-end. Gains and losses on 
revaluation are posted to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. The same treatment is applied to gains and losses on disposal. 

Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and Investment Income 
line and result in a gain for the General Fund Balance. However, revaluation and disposal gains and losses 
are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains 
and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) 
the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

1.16 Leases 

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee. All other 
leases are classified as operating leases. 
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Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered separately 
for classification. 

Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return for 
payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of 
specific assets (see 1.16.3). 

1.16.1 The Council as Lessee 

i) Finance Leases 

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the 
commencement of the lease at fair value measured at the lease's inception (or the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay 
the lessor. Initial direct costs of the Authority are added to the carrying amount of the asset. Premiums 
paid on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease liability. Contingent rents are charged as 
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 

Lease payments are apportioned between: 

• a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment – applied to write down 
the lease liability, and 

• a finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 

Property, Plant and Equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies applied 
generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease term if this is shorter than the 
asset's estimated useful life (where ownership of the asset does not transfer to the authority at the end of 
the lease period). 

The Council is not required to raise council tax to cover depreciation or revaluation and impairment losses 
arising on leased assets. Instead, a prudent annual contribution is made from revenue funds towards the 
deemed capital investment in accordance with statutory requirements. Depreciation and revaluation and 
impairment losses are therefore substituted by a revenue contribution in the General Fund Balance, by way 
of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for 
the difference between the two. 

ii) Operating Leases 

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased property, plant or equipment. Charges are 
made on a straight line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments 
(e.g. there is a rent-free period at the commencement of the lease). 

1.16.2 The Council as Lessor 

i) Finance Leases 

Where the Council grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the relevant 
asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal. At the commencement of the lease, the carrying 
amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (where Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is 
written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. A gain, representing the Council's net investment in the 
lease, is credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of 
the gain or loss on disposal (ie netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), 
matched by a lease (long-term debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet. 
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Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 

• a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property – applied to write down the lease debtor 
(together with any premiums received), and 

• finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 

The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is not permitted by 
statute to increase the General Fund Balance and is required to be treated as a capital receipt. Where a 
premium has been received this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Receipts Reserve 
in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the amount due in relation to the lease asset is to be 
settled by the payment of rentals in future financial years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to 
the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When the future rentals 
are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset is used to write down the lease 
debtor. At this point, the deferred capital receipts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against the Council tax, as the cost of non-current assets 
is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are therefore appropriated 
to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

ii) Operating leases 

Where the Council grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the asset is 
retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental Income is credited to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Credits are made on a straight-line basis over the life 
of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a premium paid at the 
commencement of the lease). Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease term are 
charged as an expense over the lease term, on the same basis as the rental income. 

1.16.3 Embedded Leases 

These are assets that although not owned by the Council are used primarily by it for service provision. 
Examples are vehicles used by the Council’s grounds and waste contractors. In these cases estimated 
values for the vehicles have been used along with a leased term in line with the contract period. Assets are 
recognised in the balance sheet at the net book value and offset by a deferred liability. The lease charge 
forms part of the contract payment on behalf of these vehicles on a straight-line basis over the life of the 
asset. These assets are depreciated in line with our normal capital policy. 

1.17 Overheads and Support Services 

The costs of overheads and support services are charged to those that benefit from the supply or service 
where the total cost needs to be reflected at service level. In those cases the total absorption costing 
principle is used – the full cost of overheads and support services are shared between users in proportion 
to the benefits received. 

1.18 Property, Plant and Equipment 

Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, 
or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during more than one financial year are 
classified as Property, Plant and Equipment. 

1.18.1 Recognition 

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised on 
an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the item will flow to the Council and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset's potential to deliver future economic benefits or 
service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is incurred. 
1.18.2 Measurement 
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Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising: 

• the purchase price 
• any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 

capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases: 

• community assets, infrastructure and assets under construction – depreciated historical cost or 
historical cost. If historical cost information is not available current cost discounted back to date of 
acquisition, using retail price index. 

• council dwellings – existing use value, determined using the basis of existing use value for social 
housing (EUV-SH) 

• assets held for sale - fair value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its 
highest and best use. 

• all other assets – existing use value where there is sufficient evidence of transactions for that use, or 
depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of current value for assets of a 
specialist nature. 

Where non-property assets have short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical cost basis 
is used as a proxy for current value. 

Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that their 
carrying amount is not materially different from their current value at the year-end, but as a minimum every 
five years. Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise 
unrealised gains. 

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its 
formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital Adjustment 
Account. 

Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for as follows: 

• where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated 
gains). 

• where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down first against any relevant balance in the reserve, and then 
against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

1.18.3 Impairment 

Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. 
Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is 
recognised for the shortfall. 

Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for as follows: 

• where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated 
gains). 

• where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 
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Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service line(s) in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement up to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for 
depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised. 

1.18.4 Depreciation 

Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation of 
their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a determinable 
finite useful life (i.e. freehold land and certain Community Assets) and assets that are not yet available for 
use (i.e. assets under construction). 

Depreciation is calculated on the following bases: 

• dwellings, infrastructure and other buildings – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the 
property as estimated by the valuer. 
• vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment – a percentage of the value of each class of assets in the 

Balance Sheet, as advised by a suitably qualified officer (as long as the amount involved is 
material). 

Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment asset has major components whose cost is significant in 
relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately on straight-line allocation 
over the useful life of the component. 

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value 
depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their 
historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment 
Account. 

1.18.5 Disposals and Non-current Assets Held for Sale 

When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale. The asset is 
revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value less 
costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the 
Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Gains in fair 
value are recognised only up to the amount of any previous losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on 
Provision of Services. Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale. 

Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale. 

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet 
(whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other Operating 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on 
disposal. Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value 
of the asset at the time of disposal). Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation 
Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. A proportion of 
receipts relating to housing disposals are payable to the Government. The balance of receipts is required to 
be credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve, and can then only be used for new capital investment (or set 
aside to reduce the Council's underlying need to borrow (the capital financial requirement). Receipts are 
appropriated to the Reserve from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non-current assets is 
fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to the 
Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

1.18.6 Heritage Assets 
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The Council owns a large number of heritage assets which have either been donated to or purchased by 
the Council, or the Council has inherited from other public bodies. The assets fall into two basic categories: 
land and buildings and museum contents and artefacts plus various items of public art and sculpture on 
display around the district. 

Heritage Assets are recognised and measured in accordance with the Council's accounting policies on 
property, plant and equipment. However, some of the measurement rules are relaxed in relation to heritage 
assets where the Council does not hold information on cost or value (see note 10.1). 

1.19 Provisions 

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council a legal or constructive 
obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or service potential, and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. For instance, the Council may be involved in 
a court case that could eventually result in the making of a settlement or the payment of compensation. 

Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year that the Council becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at 
the best estimate at the balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into 
account relevant risks and uncertainties. 

When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet. 
Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes less than 
probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement than anticipated is 
made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service. 

Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from another 
party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as income for the relevant service if it is virtually 
certain that reimbursement will be received if the authority settles the obligation. 

1.20 Reserves 

The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover contingencies. 
Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the 
appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then appropriated back into the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement, so that there is no net charge against 
council tax for the expenditure. 

Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial 
instruments, local taxation, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for the 
Council – these reserves are explained in the relevant policies. 

1.21 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 

Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but that does not 
result in the creation of a non-current asset has been charged as expenditure to the relevant service in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year. Where the Council has determined to 
meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account then 
reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact on the level of council tax. 

1.22 VAT 

VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty's 
Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income. 
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1.23 Fair Value Measurement 

The Council measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets and investment properties at 
fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair 
value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

a) in the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
b) in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The Council measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best 
interest. 

When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset, the Council takes into account a market 
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling 
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Council uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data is available, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable 
inputs. 

Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or 
disclosed in the Council’s financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, as follows: 

a) Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
Council can access at the measurement date 

b) Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly 

c) Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability 

2 Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted 

At the balance sheet date, the following new standards and amendments to existing standards have been 
published but not yet adopted by the Code of Practice of Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom: 

International Accounting Standard 8 requires the Council to disclose the expected impact of new standards 
that have been issued, but not yet adopted. 

• IFRS 16 Leases will require local authorities that are lessees to recognise most leases on their balance 
sheets as right-of-use assets with corresponding lease liabilities (there is recognition for low-value and 
short-term leases). CIPFA/LASAAC have deferred implementation of IFRS16 for local government until 
April 2024, whilst allowing earlier adoption where authorities are able to do so. 

3 Critical Judgements in applying Accounting Policies 

In applying the accounting policies set out above, the Council has had to make certain judgements about 
complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. The critical judgements made in 
the Statement of Accounts are set out below. 

a) There remains a high degree of uncertainty about future levels of funding for local government and the 
economic challenges facing the Council, particularly as a result of Covid 19. However, the Council has 
determined that this uncertainty is not yet sufficient to provide an indication that the assets of the 
Council might be impaired as a result of a need to close facilities and reduce levels of service provision. 

b) The Council has reviewed the use of the non-current assets used by the park and ride contractors in 
order to deliver the contract to establish the type of lease arrangement that covers their use. The 
non-current assets used to deliver the contract have a useful life significantly greater than the duration 
of the contract and therefore the current assets are not recognised in the council’s accounts. 
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c) During 2017/18 the Council purchased the remaining half interest in the Whitefriars shopping centre. 
Given that the Council now owns 100% of the centre for long term regeneration purposes, it has 
decided to classify the asset as a non-current property asset rather than as a financial instrument. This 
better reflects the Council’s intentions to retain this property for the long term for regeneration 
purposes. 

d) In February 2018, this Council, together with Dover and Thanet district councils, entered into a contract 
with Civica UK Ltd. As part of the contractual arrangements with Civica, the councils have agreed to a 
cap and collar arrangement whereby the councils meet annual pension costs above the cap value but 
receive the benefit if pension costs fall below the collar value. The councils have also jointly agreed to 
act as a guarantor to Civica to enable it to become an admitted body in the Kent Pension Fund. Staff 
were transferred to Civica on a 100% funded basis. 

In December 2018 the Council transferred the operation of the Marlowe Theatre to the Marlowe 
Theatre Trust , and recently revised the partnership agreement with the Council’s leisure services 
delivery partner Active Life. There are similar arrangements in place with regard to the pension 
arrangement as Civica. 

For the 2021/22 accounts therefore the Council has decided not to reflect these arrangement in its 
statement of accounts as it considers that the probability of the guarantee being realised is minimal and 
so the value of the potential transaction is insignificant. 

e) The Council paid out grants to local business affected by restrictions such as local or national 
lockdowns, which were funded from central government. Where the Council was making payments 
based on central government set criteria, and the control, discretion and risk were held by central 
government, these transactions are deemed to have been carried out on an agency basis, and as such 
do not form part of these accounts. 

f) The Council wholly owns Canterbury Environment Company Ltd (Canenco). In view of the company 
being a 100% owned subsidiary it is judged that the Council’s interest in it is a material one and as a 
result group financial statements have been prepared in addition to the Council’s single entity accounts. 

Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty 

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the Council 
about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account historical 
experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However, because balances cannot be determined 
with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates. 

The items in the Council's Balance Sheet at 31 March 2022 for which there is a significant risk of material 
adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 

Item Uncertainties Effect if actual results differ from 
assumptions 

Pensions Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions The effects on the net pension liability of 
Liability depends on a number of complex changes in individual assumptions can 
(£88.206m) judgements relating to the discount rate 

used, the rate at which salaries are projected 
to increase, changes in retirement ages, 
mortality rates and expected returns on 
pension fund assets. A firm of consulting 
actuaries is engaged to provide the Authority 
with expert advice about the assumptions to 
be applied. 

be measured. For instance a 0.1% 
increase in the discount rate assumption 
would result in a decrease in the pension 
liability of £4.6m. 

Changes to financial assumptions in 
2021/22 have led to a decrease in the net 
liability of £3.4m. 

Business Rate The Council has a significant number of If the outcome of appeals is a reduction 
Appeals outstanding appeals against the Valuation in the rateable value above that which 
(£4.741m) Office (VOA) rating list. These can take 

several years to be heard and the outcome 
has been provided then the NNDR 
collection fund would incur the additional 
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is difficult to estimate. Historical data has 
been used as the best estimate on which to 
base the provision for the outcome of the 
appeals. 

Following the 2017 revaluation there now 
applies a Check Challenge Appeal process 
for ratepayers. Very little progress to date 
has been made in resolving appeals, 
meaning that additional provision is having to 
be made in each year. 

cost of the appeals and there would be 
an ongoing reduction in the NNDR yield. 
If successful appeals increased by 1%, 
the impact to the council would be 
£47,000 for each year of the claim, 
totalling approximately £282,000. 

Valuation of 
property, plant 
and equipment 
(PPE) 
(£662.029m) 

All valuations are carried out in accordance 
with the methodologies and bases for 
estimation set out in the professional 
standards of the Royal Institution of 
Chartered Surveyors. The Council’s 
valuation team work closely with finance 
officers reporting directly to the chief 
financial officer on a regular basis regarding 
all valuation matters. 

The methodology used to value PPE is as 
set out in note 10.4 to the accounts. 

When the fair values of investment 
properties, surplus assets and assets held 
for sale cannot be measured based on 
quoted prices in active markets (i.e. Level 1 
inputs), their fair value is measured using the 
following valuation techniques: 

1. For Level 2 inputs, quoted prices for 
similar assets or liabilities in active markets 
at the balance sheet date; 

2. For level 3 inputs, valuations based on 
most recent valuations adjusted to current 
valuation by the use of indexation and 
impairment review. 

Where possible, the inputs to these valuation 
techniques are based on observable data, 
but where this is not possible, judgement is 
required in establishing fair values. These 
judgements typically include considerations 
such as uncertainty and risk. Changes in 
assumptions used could affect the fair value 
of the Council’s assets and liabilities. 

Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the 
authority’s internal RICS qualified valuers 
identify the most appropriate valuation 
techniques to determine fair value. 

The Council uses a combination of 
indexation techniques, beacon valuations 
and discounted cash flow (DCF) models 
to measure the fair value of its 
Investment Properties, Surplus Assets 
and Assets Held for Sale under IFRS13 
depending on which technique it 
considers most appropriate, and similarly 
to value its PPE. 

The significant unobservable inputs used 
in the fair value measurement include 
management assumptions regarding rent 
growth, occupancy levels, floor area, 
repairs backlogs, beacon classifications 
and others. 

Significant changes in any of the 
unobservable inputs would result in a 
significantly lower or higher fair value 
measurement for these assets. 

The most significant single asset is the 
Council’s 100% stake in the Whitefriars 
Shopping Centre. This is valued using 
Level 2 inputs. A one percent variation 
would lead to a change in value of £753k 
which is not material. 

If the valuation of the overall PPE 
increased by 1%, the impact to the 
council would be £6.6m. 

Bad debt The Council has bad debt provisions of The actual level of bad debts could be 
provisions £5.025m for income relating to the HRA, better or worse than the provision, 
(impairment benefit overpayments, council tax, NNDR leading to a need to increase or reduce it. 
allowance) and other general debtors. The provisions Collection rates are monitored closely to 
(£5.025m) are based on previous history of collection 

rates based on aged debt analysis. However, 
allow early identification of changes to 
trends in payment patterns. 
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future payment patterns could differ from 
historical trends. 

5 Events after the Reporting Period 

The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Chief Financial Officer on 30 June 2022. 
Events taking place after this date are not reflected in the financial statements or notes. Where events 
taking place before this date provided information about conditions existing at 31 March 2022, the figures in 
the financial statements and notes have been adjusted in all material respects to reflect the impact of this 
information. 

6 Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations 

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure 
recognised by the Council in the year in accordance with proper accounting practice to the resources that 
are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Council to meet future capital and revenue 
expenditure. 

The following sets out a description of the reserves that the adjustments are made against. 

6.1 General Fund Balance 

The General Fund is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of an authority are required to be paid and 
out of which all liabilities of the Council are to be met, except to the extent that statutory rules might provide 
otherwise. These rules can also specify the financial year in which liabilities and payments should impact 
on the General Fund Balance, which is not necessarily in accordance with proper accounting practice. The 
General Fund Balance therefore summarises the resources that the Council is statutorily empowered to 
spend on its services or on capital investment (or the deficit of resources that the Council is required to 
recover) at the end of the financial year. However the balance is not available to be applied to funding HRA 
services. 

6.2 Housing Revenue Account Balance 

The Housing Revenue Account Balance reflects the statutory obligation to maintain a revenue account for 
local authority council housing provision in accordance with Part VI of the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989. It contains the balance of income and expenditure as defined by the 1989 Act that is available to 
fund future expenditure in connection with the Council's landlord function or (where in deficit) that is 
required to be recovered from tenants in future years. 

6.3 Major Repairs Reserve 

The Council is required to maintain the Major Repairs Reserve, which controls an element of the capital 
resources limited to being used on capital expenditure on HRA assets or the financing of historical capital 
expenditure by the HRA. The balance shows the capital resources that have yet to be applied at the 
year-end. 

6.4 Capital Receipts Reserve 

The Capital Receipts Reserve holds the proceeds from the disposal of land or other assets, which are 
restricted by statute from being used other than to fund new capital expenditure or to be set aside to finance 
historical capital expenditure. The balance on the reserve shows the resources that have yet to be applied 
for these purposes at the year-end. 

6.5 Capital Grants Unapplied 

The Capital Grants Unapplied Account (Reserve) holds the grants and contributions received towards 
capital projects for which the Council has met the conditions that would otherwise require repayment of the 
monies but which have yet to be applied to meet expenditure. The balance is restricted by grant terms as 
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                  to the capital expenditure against which it can be applied and/or the financial year in which this can take 
place. 
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7 Note to the expenditure and funding analysis 

Adjustments from the General Fund to arrive at the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement Amounts: 
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8 Expenditure and income analysed by nature 

The Council’s expenditure and income is analysed as follows: 
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9 Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves 

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund and HRA balances in earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and 
the amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund and HRA expenditure in 2021/22. 
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Earmarked Reserves 

a) The computer/equipment reserve is held to finance ICT equipment which needs replacing. 

b) The buildings maintenance reserve is used to finance major repairs to council buildings. 

c) The commercial property stabilisation reserve is used to smooth the commercial property income 
fluctuations across financial years. 

d) The restructure reserve is used to cover restructure costs. 

e) The open spaces maintenance reserve holds the balance from commuted payments from developers 
(under section 106 agreements) based on 20 years maintenance cost of spaces taken over by the Council. 
The balance for each development is transferred to revenue over 20 years. 

f) The budget stabilisation is in place to support the revenue budget over future years and to cover any 
impairment on investments. 

g) The carry forward reserve is used to carry forward approved allocations to the next financial year to fund 
specific items or projects. 

h) The Whitstable Harbour reserves hold surpluses from the harbour account to spend on the Harbour in 
future years. 

i) The waste reserve was established to smooth grant funding received over the life of the current contract 
and to fund preparatory work in establishing Canterbury Environment Company. The reserve was fully 
utilised in 2020/21. 

j) The NDR reserve has been created to allocate grant funding received in the current year that is required to 
fund the NDR collection fund costs accounted for in future financial years. The significant difference in 
2021/22 is due to the Council receiving additional Section 31 grant payments as the Government expanded 
business rates reliefs in response to the pandemic in 2020/21 and paying the government and preceptors 
amount back in 2021/22. Due to the required accounting treatment, the additional Section 31 grants are 
held by the billing authority rather than going through the Collection Fund. A deficit is held on the Collection 
Fund, which is then recovered from the billing authority over future years. This sum has therefore been 
transferred into the reserve to meet the costs of the Council’s share of the deficit in the future. The Council’s 
proportion of the payment of these grants, for the Collection Fund, was £14m. 

k) The capital reserve has been established to facilitate revenue contributions towards funding of the capital 
programme. 

l) The planning reserves are used to finance development management in the district and to finance the costs 
of local plan inquiries. 

m) The climate change reserve was established to set aside money for dealing with a range of issues to help 
climate change. As part of the emergency budget for 2020/21 the balance was transferred to the budget 
stabiliation reserve to support the budget pressures arising from the pandemic. 

h1) The HRA reserves consist mainly of a subsidence reserve created to cover liabilities arising from 
subsidence of housing stock properties now that they are not covered within the Council's insurance policy. 

Other General Fund Reserves consists of a number of reserves with balances of less than £500,000, which 
have been earmarked for a range of different purposes such as insurance, election costs, and car park 
investments. 
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10 Property plant and equipment, investment properties and intangible assets 

Following the introduction of capital accounting, plant, property and equipment (PPE) are valued using the basis set out in note 10.4 below, any differences 
being credited or debited to the Revaluation Reserve. Infrastructure assets and community assets are included in the balance sheet at historical cost, net of 
depreciation. The summary of the movement in these assets during the year are listed in the two tables below. 
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        10 Property plant and equipment, investment properties and intangible assets 
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10.1 Heritage Assets 

FRS 102 defines a heritage asset as 'a tangible asset with historical, artistic, scientific, technological, 
geophysical or environmental qualities that is held and maintained principally for its contribution to 
knowledge and culture'. 

Canterbury City Council owns a large number of heritage assets which have either been donated to the 
Council or purchased or the Council has inherited from other public bodies. The assets are maintained to a 
standard which enables them to retain their original value. Therefore, it is not considered appropriate to 
depreciate these assets. 

Land and Buildings 

The Council owns the following land and buildings, most of them historic, which are held and maintained 
principally for their contribution to knowledge and culture. The Council does not hold information on the cost 
or value of these assets and it is considered that the cost of obtaining this information outweighs the benefit 
to the reader of the accounts. 

Assets whose primary function is operational, such as the Holy Cross Church (The Guildhall), Tower 
House, and museum buildings are not classed as Heritage Assets. Where the asset values are recorded 
on the fixed asset register, these values are also shown in the reconciliation below. 

The buildings are all maintained by the Council's buildings services team. There are regular inspections 
and any maintenance required is carried out as part of the maintenance programme for all of the Council's 
buildings. 

Museum contents and other artefacts 

The museums service is managed within the Place Services area, and a small team look after and preserve 
the exhibits. 

The service operated two museums within the district during 2021/22. Independent groups have been 
established in Herne Bay and Whitstable to take on the management of the museums on the Council’s 
behalf. 

The art in the museums were last valued in 2006 by Sotheby's for insurance purposes at £7,100,000. This 
is reviewed annually and the current valuation is £7,075,000. Other museum exhibits are valued for 
insurance purposes at £841,000 and various civic and public art commissions are valued at £670,000 
giving an overall total of £9,627,000 which also includes Tower House and Van Dyck paintings, but 
excludes exhibitions on loan to the Council. 

It has been determined that the civic regalia should be classed as operational assets as they are used in 
the course of the Council's business. 
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Reconciliation of the carrying value of Heritage Assets Held by the Authority 

10.2 Assets held for sale 

10.3 Depreciation 

Depreciation is provided for PPE with a finite useful life according to the following policy: 
a) Operational buildings are depreciated unless the amount involved is not material. 
b) Newly acquired assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition although assets in the course of 

construction are where depreciated, are depreciated at historical cost. 
c) Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected useful life of the asset. This 

is calculated for each asset on an individual basis as follows: infrastructure assets are depreciated over 
periods varying from 10 to 50 years, operational buildings over periods ranging from 20 to 100 years, 
and plant, vehicles and equipment are mainly depreciated over five years. 

A revised depreciation charge using component accounting was implemented for the HRA in 2010/11 and 
has been implemented for major properties only for the General Fund from 2011/12. 

10.4 Revaluations 

The Council carries out a rolling programme of revaluations that ensures that all property, highways, 
infrastructure assets, plant and equipment required to be measured at current value is re-valued at least 
every five years. Investment properties, surplus properties and assets held for sale are re-valued every 
year, as are all assets with a capital value of over £400,000. Revaluations for 2021/22 were carried out 
internally with the exception of Whitefriars, which was valued by Knight Frank and the council dwellings and 
garages which were valued by Savills. 

Assets category Date of last 
valuation 

Basis of 
valuation 

Value of revalued 
assets £’000 

Valuer 

Council dwellings March 2022 A 327,272 Savills 
Other land and buildings April 2021– 

March 2022 
B 213,468 Adam Wright, MRICS 

Surplus assets March 2022 C 0 Adam Wright, MRICS 
Investment properties March 2022 C 4,348 Adam Wright, MRICS 
Infrastructure assets March 2022 B 43,798 Liam Wooltorton, IEng, 

MICE 
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Assets held for sale March 2022 C 5,589 Adam Wright, MRICS 

Basis of valuation 

A Current Value - Existing Use Value – Social Housing reflects discounted value in accordance with 
MHCLG guidance to allow for the use of property as rented social housing 

B a) Current Value - Existing Use Value where there was sufficient evidence of transactions for that 
use, or 

b) Depreciated replacement cost (DRC) where the asset is of a specialised nature or where there is 
no evidence of market value of suitably comparable properties 

C Current Value - Fair value for properties categorised as Assets Held for Sale, surplus or investment 
properties 

Valuation techniques used to determine level 2 fair values for investment properties 

The Fair Values of retail assets have been assessed using the investment method reflecting market 
conditions, sale prices and achieved rents for similar assets in the local authority area as at the valuation 
date. Market conditions are such that the level of observable inputs is significant leading to the property 
being categorised at Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy (see Note 4 for an explanation of the fair value 
levels). 

Highest and Best Use of Investment Properties 

In estimating the fair value of the authority’s investment property, the highest and best use is the current 
use. 

There has been no change in the valuation techniques used during the year for investment property. 

Following the Grenfell Fire tragedy in June 2017, the MHCLG published ‘Advice for Building Owners of 
Multi-Storey, Multi-Occupied Residential Buildings’ (the consolidated advice note (CAN)) in January 2020. 
Following publication of the MHCLG’s advice the RICS produced a Guidance Note ‘Valuation of properties 
in multi-storey, multi occupancy residential buildings with cladding’ 1st edition, March 2021 (the RICS 
Guidance Note), which came into effect on 5th April 2021. Savill’s opinion of value for Canterbury City 
Council’s three high rise blocks, Elizabeth Court and Margaret Court, Herne Bay and Windsor House 
Whitstable has regards to both the CAN and the RICS Guidance Note. Until the full extent of the 
remediation works that may be required to the external wall insulation at these blocks and the specific 
costings for these works are known, Savills have withheld the value and attributed a nil value to the three 
blocks. 
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11 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below, together with the 
resources that have been used to finance it. Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future years by 
charges to revenue as assets are used by the Council, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the Council that 
has yet to be financed. This effectively means that it has been covered by borrowing. 

11.1 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute (REFCUS) 

This expenditure is recognised as revenue expenditure and any funding of it by grants recognised as 
revenue income. 

The financing of this expenditure was grants and contributions of £1.538m. Adding this to the £1.261m non 
REFCUS grant funded capital expenditure reconciles to the total capital grants applied to finance capital 
expenditure £2.799m (see table above). 
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12. Financial Instruments 

12.1 Categories of Financial Instruments 

The following categories of financial instrument (and non-financial assets/liabilities) are disclosed on the face of the Balance Sheet as at 31 March. 
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12.2 Material Soft Loan made by the Council 

Loan to Kent County Cricket Club (KCCC) 

Soft loans includes a loan to the KCCC (towards the implementation of its development plans) which is 
deemed to be material. A soft loan is one where the advance has been made at less than market rates. 
Within the balance of soft loans of £2.6m shown in the table at 12.1 above, is an amount of £2.4m in 
respect of the KCCC. 

The interest rate at which the fair value of this soft loan has been made is arrived at by adding 1% to the 
actual cost of borrowing to reflect the credit risk. 

12.3 Income, Expense, Gains and Losses 

The income, expense, gains and losses recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement (as part of Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services) in relation to financial instruments are 
made up as follows: 

12.4 Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

The Council’s financial liabilities and financial assets are carried in the Balance Sheet at amortised cost. 
Their fair value can be assessed by calculating the Net Present Value of the cash flows that will take place 
over the remaining term of the instruments, which provides an estimate of the value of payments in the 
future in today's terms. This is the widely accepted valuation technique commonly used by the private 
sector. The following assumptions have been used: 

i) For PWLB loans, the new borrowing rate has been used as the discount factor (as opposed to the 
premature repayment rate). This is because the premature repayment rate includes a margin which 
represents the lender's profit as a result of rescheduling the loan, which is not included in the fair value 
calculation. Relevant interest rates at 31 March 2022 were between 2.16% and 2.85% depending on 
the maturity date of the loan. 

ii) No early repayment or impairment is recognised. 
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iii) For investments, the discount rate used in the Net Present Value calculation should be equal to the 
current rate in relation to the same instrument from a comparable lender. This will be the rate 
applicable in the market on the date of the valuation for an instrument with the same outstanding period 
to maturity. 

The fair values calculated by Arlingclose our treasury advisors: 

The fair value is higher than the carrying amount because the Council’s portfolio of loans includes a number 
of fixed rate loans where the interest rate payable is higher than the rates available for similar loans at the 
balance sheet date including three old loans totalling £2.5m with rates of 7.625%, 10.25% and 10.5% which 
account for a fair value of £2.796m higher than the carrying amount. Further, the commitment to pay 
interest above current market rates on the other loans increases the amount that the Council would have to 
pay if the lender requested or agreed to early repayments of the loans. 

The value of money market funds are made at “mark to market” meaning that the value of the funds are 
constantly measured at their fair value. The Council’s carrying amount in the accounts is kept up to date 
resulting in them being equal to the fair value. 

Financial assets and liabilities additionally include cash, bank overnight deposits and some debtors and 
creditors as set out in the table (above) in note 12.1. The fair value of these is equivalent to the nominal 
value as they are short term liquid assets. 

12.5 Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments 

The Council's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 

i) Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts to the Council. 
ii) Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Council might not have funds available to meet its commitments 

to make payments. 
iii) Re-financing risk – the possibility that the Council might be requiring to renew a financial instrument on 

maturity at disadvantageous interest rates or terms. 
iv) Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the authority as a result of changes in 

such measures as interest rates and stock market movements. 
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The Council’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the resources available to fund services. Risk management 
in relation to treasury management is reviewed throughout the year, under policies approved by the Council 
in the annual treasury management strategy. The Council provides written principles for overall risk 
management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as interest rate risk, credit risk and 
the investment of surplus cash. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposure to the 
authority's customers. Deposits are only made with banks and financial institutions if they are rated with a 
minimum score of F1. The Treasury Management Strategy sets out the lending limits to any single counter 
party, these are based on the assessed risks and vary between £2.5 million and £10 million. The strategy 
for 2021/22 was agreed by Council on 25 February 2021 and is available on the Council’s website. 

Liquidity risk 

The Council manages its liquidity position through risk management procedures (the setting and approval 
of prudential indicators and the approval of the treasury and investment strategy reports) as well as through 
a comprehensive cash flow management system, as required by the CIPFA Code of Practice. This seeks 
to ensure that cash is available when needed. 

The Council has ready access to borrowings from the money markets to cover any day to day cash flow 
needed (although this facility is rarely used), and the PWLB and money markets for access to longer term 
funds. The Council is also required to provide a balanced budget through the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992, which ensures sufficient monies are raised to cover annual expenditure. There is therefore no 
significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under financial instruments. 

All investment sums owing to the Council (£32.4m) can be repaid on demand if required. The long term 
debts are due for repayment in accordance with the loan agreements. 

Refinancing and Maturity Risk 

The Council manages its liquidity position through the risk management procedures above (the setting and 
approval of prudential indicators and the approval of the treasury and investment strategy reports), as well 
as through a comprehensive cash flow management system, as required by the CIPFA Code of Practice. 
This seeks to ensure that cash is available when needed. 

However £68.7m of loans have a maturity of more than 10 years and the strategy is now to spread the 
maturity profile of the borrowings and to make early repayments where it is beneficial to do so. 

The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is as follows: 
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Market Risk 

Interest rate risk 

The Council is exposed to significant risks in terms of its exposures to interest rate movements on its 
investments, although much less on its borrowings. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on 
the authority. For instance a rise in interest rates would have the following effects: 

● borrowings at variable rates – the interest expense charged to the surplus or deficit on the provision of 
services will rise 

● borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the liabilities/borrowings will fall 
● investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the surplus or deficit on the provision of 

services will rise 
● investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall 

Borrowings are not carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate borrowings would not 
impact on the surplus or deficit on the provision of services or other comprehensive income and 
expenditure account. However changes in interest payable and receivable on variable rate borrowings and 
investments (if the Council had any) would be posted to the surplus or deficit on the provision of services 
and affect the General Fund balance. 

Investments or borrowings at variable interest rates are potentially most affected by interest rate risk; this 
Council invests in money market funds which are subject to movements in interest rates. For a 1% increase 
in rates additional income of £90k would be generated. A 1% reduction would have the opposite effect. 

General Fund Borrowing 

Of the £68.7m Council borrowing in excess of 10 years, £66.5m is General Fund. 

Financial Instruments Designated at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVPL) 

The Council held £32.4m in money market funds at 31 March 2022 designated as FVPL. The risk to the 
value of the funds is managed as described above. Fair value hierarchy of Level 1 is applied, that is, the 
value is derived from quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. The impact of a 1% interest rate 
rise would lead to an estimated reduction in fair value of £29k. 

13 Long term debtors 

The balance for soft loans at 31 March 2022 of £2.828m has been reduced downwards by £203k (contra 
the Financial Instruments adjustment account) to a 'fair value' of £2.625m using a discounted cash flow 
calculation, to reflect the interest charged is below market rates or where interest is at the market rate a 
credit default risk of 1% has been used. 
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14 Short term debtors 

14.1 Age of Debt 

An analysis of the age profile of trade debtors is given in the table below which form part of the debtors 
figures shown above. 

14.2 Collectability of debt 

The Council does not generally allow credit for customers; however, it is prudent to establish an allowance 
for non-payment of debt. This calculation is based upon the type and age of the debtor and allows a 
percentage for the expected failure of collection. The Council's potential maximum exposure to default or 
non-collection of the debt is shown as the provision balance as at 31 March in the impairment of debt table 
above. 

15 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash is defined as cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand, less overdrafts. The balance of cash 
and cash equivalents is made up of the following elements: 
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16 Creditors 

16.1 Deposits and Receipts in Advance 

The balance for deposits and receipts in advance of £26.525m is predominantly made up of various 
government grants, most of which relate to Covid-19. (In 2020/21 the total was £15.091m which was also 
predominantly made up of various government grants, most of which related to the pandemic). 

17 Usable Reserves 

Movements in the Council's usable reserves are detailed in the Movement in Reserves Statement and in 
notes 6 and 9 to the financial statements. 

18 Unusable Reserves 
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18.1 Revaluation Reserve 

This reserve contains the gains made by the Council arising from increases in the value of its Property, 
Plant and Equipment (and Intangible Assets) as a result of inflation or other factors. The balance is 
reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 

● revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
● used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation, or 
● disposed of and the gains are realised 

The reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the reserve was 
created. Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the balance on the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
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18.2 Capital Adjustment Account 

This reserve reflects the timing differences between the historical cost of non-current assets consumed, 
and for financing the acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. 

The account is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction or enhancement as depreciation, 
impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a 
historical cost basis). The account is credited with the amounts that have been set aside to finance the 
costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement. 

The account contains accumulated gains and losses on Investment Properties. The account also contains 
revaluation gains accumulated on property, plant and equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the 
Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. 
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18.3 Pensions Reserve 

The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences due to the different arrangements for accounting for 
post employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statute. The Council accounts for 
post employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are 
earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, 
changing assumptions and investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs. However, 
statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Council makes employer's 
contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible. The 
debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by 
past and current employees and the resources the Council has set aside to meet them. The statutory 
arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid. 
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19 Cash flow statement – operating activities and reconciliation of liabilities arising from 
financing 

19.1 The cash flows for operating activities include the following items: 

Full details of investing and financing activities are included in the main cash flow statement itself. 

19.2 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

20 Grant Income 

The Council credited the following grants and contributions to the comprehensive income and expenditure 
statement within taxation and non-specific grant income section. 
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The Council credited the following grants and contributions to cost of services within the comprehensive 
income and expenditure statement. 

Covid 19 grants consist of several different grants, as shown below. 

The Council has received a number of grants and contributions that have yet to be recognised as income 
as they have conditions attached to them that will require the monies to be returned if the conditions are not 
met. They are credited to capital grants receipts in advance until the terms of the condition are 
substantially met. 

21 External Audit Costs 

The Council has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of Accounts and 
certification of grant claims. 

22 Councillors' Allowances 

The total of councillors' allowances paid in the year was £316,865 (2021/22 - £302,627 ) 

Details can be found on our website: 
https://www.canterbury.gov.uk/budgets-and-transparency/members-allowances/ 
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23 Officers' Emoluments 

The number of employees whose remuneration including termination payments, but excluding employer's 
pension contributions, was over £50,000, in bands of £5,000 are shown in the following table. 

23.1 Senior Officers' Emoluments 

This note reports the details of officers with statutory responsibilities and those reporting direct to the Chief 
Executive or part of Senior Management Team. The lowest full-time pay rate on the Council's salary scale 
is £18,328, therefore the test of the most senior salary not exceeding 20 times this rate is comfortably met. 

Staff changes during the year resulted in the appointment of a permanent Head of Legal Services from 
October 2021, replacing the Interim Head of Legal Services. The Director - Finance & Procurement post 
was also vacant from 1 October 2021, and was removed from the senior management structure. 
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There were no other bonuses paid or receivable, no expenses allowance chargeable to UK tax paid or 
receivable, no amount of any compensation for loss of employment paid or receivable plus any other 
payment in connection with termination of employment paid to any of the above. 

24 Exit Packages and Termination Benefits 

The Council terminated the contracts of a number of employees in 2021/22, incurring liabilities of £307,000 
(£194,000 in 2020/21). The total in 2021/22 is in respect of 13 officers from various divisions within the 
Council who were made redundant as part of the councils ongoing rationalisation of services. Payments 
include all payments for redundancy, compromise agreements, pension costs incurred and pay-in-lieu of 
notice. The total cost of these exit packages is analysed in bands of £20,000 below: 

Accounting regulations require the Council to include a provision in the accounts for redundancy costs that 
the Council know they will incur in 2022/23. The amounts payable to officers after 31 March 2022 are 
excluded from the table above as it will be disclosed in 2022/23. 

25 Related Party Transactions 

The Council is required to disclose material transactions with related parties (which includes close family 
relationships), bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Council or be 
controlled or influenced by the Council. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the 
extent to which the Council might have been constrained in its ability to operate independently or might 
have secured the ability to limit another party's ability to bargain freely with the Council. 

Central Government 

Central government has effective control over the general operations of the Council – it is responsible for 
providing the statutory framework within which the Council operates, provides the majority of its funding in 
the form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that the Council has with other 
parties (e.g. council tax bills, housing benefits). Grants received from government departments are set out 
in note 20 (above) – both credited to services and credited to taxation and non-specific grant income. 
Grant receipts outstanding are also shown in this note. 
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Councillors 

Councillors have direct control over the Council's financial and operating policies. The total of councillors' 
allowances paid in the last year is shown in note 22. 

Details of any related party transactions with councillors are collected annually. Several councillors are 
trustees of groups that have received small amounts of grant funding during the year. During 2021/22 some 
councillors and/or their family received COVID-19 business grant funding that the council administered on 
behalf of central government. 

Canterbury Environment Company (CanenCo) 

On 1 February 2021 the council’s waste and street cleansing service became the responsibility of 
Canterbury Environment Company which is a company wholly owned by the council. Canterbury 
Environment Company also took on the grounds maintenance and associated works contract from 1 
December 2021. The Council’s Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Commissioned 
Services served on the company’s board of directors initially, However, during 2021/22 the board of 
directors was changed to the Deputy Chief Executive, the Director of People and Place, and the Deputy 
Director of People. 

Precepting authorities 

The Council collects council tax on behalf of its three major precepting authorities who in turn precept the 
Council. In addition, Kent County Council and Kent Fire and Rescue receive its share of business rates 
collected by the Council. Details are set out in the Collection Fund on pages 82-85. Kent County Council 
also administers the Kent Pension Fund on behalf of Kent districts (see pages 68-73). 

26 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 

In October 2007 the Council entered into an agreement with Kent County Council and nine other Kent 
district councils to all participate in a Private Finance Initiative (PFI) called 'Better Homes Active Lives'. The 
PFI generated up to 352 units of social housing across Kent, including 65 apartments for people with 
learning difficulties, 7 apartments for people with mental health problems and 280 units of sheltered 
housing for frail older people. 

As part of the agreement, Canterbury City Council donated two properties on a leasehold basis: King 
Edward Court, Herne Bay, valued at £1,400k and Brymore Road Garages, Canterbury, valued at £429k. 
The Council retains ownership of the freehold of both properties and receives a peppercorn rent for the use 
of the properties. 

Under the agreement, the Council have nomination rights over the occupancy of the properties for the first 
30 years, after which there will be the option of retaining the nomination rights or receiving an increased 
rent. The King Edward Court scheme and the Brymore Road scheme (now known as Henry Court) are 
both built and fully occupied. 

27 Impairment losses 

Impairment losses on Property, Plant and Equipment which are charged to the surplus or deficit on the 
provision of services are shown in note 10 to the financial statements. Impairment losses on financial 
assets are shown in the financing and investment section of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
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28 Pension Costs 

Participation in pension schemes 

As part of the terms and conditions of its officers and other employees, the Council offers retirement 
benefits. Although these will not be payable until employees retire, the Council has a commitment to make 
the payments that needs to be disclosed at the time that employees earn their future entitlements. 

The Council participates in the Local Government Pensions Scheme administered by Kent County Council. 
This is a defined benefit statutory scheme, meaning that the Council and employees pay contributions into 
a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pensions liabilities with investment assets. The 
scheme makes payments in the year to retired officers. 

In general, participating in a defined benefit pension scheme means that the Employer is exposed to a 
number of risks: 

● Investment risk. The Fund holds investment in asset classes, such as equities, which have volatile 
market values and while these assets are expected to provide real returns over the long-term, the 
short-term volatility can cause additional funding to be required if a deficit emerges. 

● Interest rate risk. The Fund’s liabilities are assessed using market yields on high quality corporate 
bonds to discount the liabilities. As the Fund holds assets such as equities the value of the assets and 
liabilities may not move in the same way. 

● Inflation risk. All of the benefits under the Fund are linked to inflation and so deficits may emerge to the 
extent that the assets are not linked to inflation. 

● Longevity risk. In the event that the members live longer than assumed a deficit will emerge in the 
Fund. There are also other demographic risks. 

In addition, as many unrelated employers participate in the Kent County Council Pension Fund, there is an 
orphan liability risk where employers leave the Fund but with insufficient assets to cover their pension 
obligations so that the difference may fall on the remaining employers. 

All of the risks above may also benefit the Employer e.g. higher than expected investment returns or 
employers leaving the Fund with excess assets which eventually get inherited by the remaining employers. 

The actuary appointed to carry out the valuation for final accounts purposes is Barnett Waddingham. 

The pension disclosures in the accounts are determined by IAS 19. 
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28.1 Transactions relating to retirement benefits 

We recognise the cost of retirement benefits in the reported Cost of Services when they are earned by 
employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions. However, the charge we are 
required to make against council tax is based on the cash payable in the year, so the real cost of retirement 
benefits is reversed out of the General Fund via the Movement in Reserves Statement. The following 
transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the General 
Fund balance during the year: 

28.2 Pensions Assets and Liabilities recognised in the Balance Sheet 

The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Council’s obligation in respect of its defined 
benefit plans is as follows: 
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28.3 Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair Value of Scheme (Plan) Assets 

28.4 Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities 

28.5 Local Government Pension Scheme Assets Comprised: 
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28.6 Local Government Pension Scheme Assets Breakdown 

The following information represents the percentages of the total Fund held in each asset class (split by 
those that have a quoted market price in an active market, and those that do not). 

28.7 Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities 

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using projected unit credit method, an estimate of the 
pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels, 
etc. 

Both the Local Government Pension Scheme and discretionary benefits liability have been estimated by 
Barnett Waddingham, an independent firm of actuaries, estimates for the Fund being based on the latest 
full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2019. 

Valuation techniques are used to determine the fair values of directly held property and pooled property 
funds that form part of the pension fund assets. Where possible these valuation techniques are based on 
observable data, but where this is not possible management uses the best available data.Changes in the 
valuation assumptions used, together with significant changes in rental growth, vacancy levels or the 
discount rate could affect the fair value of property. 
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The significant assumptions used by the actuary have been: 

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the table 
above. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the 
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that the assumption 
analysed changes while all the other assumptions remained constant. The assumption in longevity, for 
example, assume that life expectancy increases or decreases for men and women. In practice, this is 
unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be interrelated. The estimations in the 
sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting policies for the scheme, i.e. on an actuarial basis using the 
projected unit credit method. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity 
analysis below did not change from those used in the previous period. 

28.8 Impact on the Council’s Cashflow 

The objectives of the scheme are to keep the employers’ contribution as at a constant rate as possible. The 
Council has agreed a strategy with the scheme’s actuary to achieve a funding level of 100% over an 
appropriate time period. Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis. The next triennial valuation is 
due to be completed as at 31 March 2022. 

The scheme will need to take account of the national changes to the scheme under the Public Pensions 
Services Act 2013. Under the Act, the Local Government Pension Scheme in England and Wales and the 
other main existing public service schemes may not provide benefits in relation to service after 31 March 
2014 (or service after 31 March 2015 for other main existing public service pension schemes in England 
and Wales). The Act provides for scheme regulations to be made within a common framework, to establish 
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new career average revalued earnings schemes to pay pensions and other benefits to certain public 
servants. 

The Council anticipates paying £4.313m employer contributions to the scheme in 2022/23. 

Further information can be found in Kent County Council's Superannuation Fund's Annual Report which is 
available upon request from the Investment Section, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone, Kent ME14 
1XQ. 

29 Operating Leases payable 

During 2011/12 the Council acquired more than an insignificant amount of use of the leisure facilities at 
Herne Bay High School for 25 years, in return for a payment of £2.4m. This arrangement is being treated 
as an operating lease payment of £98k in 2021/22 (£98k for 2020/21). 

The future lease payments due under this lease in future years are: 

The Council's Park and Ride service is operated under an arrangement which is classed under 
International Financial Reporting Standards as containing an embedded lease. This lease is classified as 
an operating lease but it is not possible to separate the payments to the operating company between lease 
payments and payments for other elements of the service. 

The total payments in respect of this contract were £1,097k for 2021/22 (£398k in 2020/21). The payments 
were significantly lower in 2020/21 due to the service being suspended for long periods due to national and 
local lockdowns for Covid-19. 

Operating Leases receivable 

The Council owns a large portfolio of property including two industrial estates and various properties in the 
city centre. 

Much of this land is leased out. A review of the leases by the Council has concluded that these leases are 
classed as operating leases as the risks and rewards of ownership of the land remain with the lessor. 

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases in future years are: 

74 



 

                 
               

                  
                

                  
                
              

                   
                

      

               
                   

              

     

               
                

                 
              

          

             
    

               
      

   

                 
       

            

30 Contingent Liability 

The Council is aware of a business rate litigation between the Valuation Office and a number of Ratepayers 
concerning the rating of Automated Teller Machines.The outcome of the appeal was released in late May 
2020 and, although the Supreme Court found in favour of the retailers in that they should not be assessed 
separately, the ruling implied that ATMs should have been part of the main assessment for the property. 
The ruling has many potential implications which are still to be considered and the VOA are still in the 
process of assessing the cases. No specific provision has been made within the accounts above the 
general appeals provision for these appeals at this stage, given the uncertainties surrounding the case. 

The Council is aware of a dispute with a contractor and the value of the works completed, this is currently 
with the Council’s litigation lawyer. The expected outcome is unkown at this time, however there is a 
potential liability that cannot reliably be measured. 

The Council is aware of building defects identified at the Marlowe theatre related to the original 
construction. The theatre was built in 2012 and then transfered to a Trust in 2018. To rectify the defects is 
an estimated additional £1.4m. There is ongoing litigation with the contractor to recover the costs. 

31 Interest in joint arrangements and companies 

The Council entered into an arrangement with Dover District Council and Thanet District Council for the 
provision of the ICT service, HR services, customer services and Revenue and Benefits service. The joint 
ICT and HR services are hosted by Thanet District Council and Dover Council with all council’s paying a 
management fee for the services provided. The Revenue and Benefits and customer services functions are 
now provided by Civica jointly on behalf of the three councils. 

During 2021/22 HR services were removed from the joint service arrangement, although Payroll services 
remain within the shared service. 

The 2021/22 financial statements contain a long term debtor of £133k which represents the Canterbury City 
Council element of the EK Services reserve. 

Canterbury Environment Company Ltd 

The council is sole owner of the company. Group financial statements for the Council and the company are 
set out on pages 86 to 93 below. 

Key results for the company in 2021/22 are as follows (subject to audit): 

32 Provisions 
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NNDR Appeals 
This provision is the Council’s share of the provision for appeals against NNDR ratings. The Valuation 
Office has a backlog of outstanding appeals, hence the current high provision. 

Other Provisions 
Other provisions cover the potential liabilities arising from the insurance claims with the former Municipal 
Mutual Insurance Company, a provision for early retirement/redundancy and a general provisions account. 
The other provisions are individually insignificant. 

33 Re-statement of 2020/21 Cost of Services in Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 
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Housing Revenue Account Income and Expenditure Statement 

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) summarises the transactions relating to the provision, maintenance 
and sales of council houses and flats. The account has to be self-financing and there is a legal prohibition 
on cross subsidy to or from local taxpayers. 

The HRA Income and Expenditure Statement shows the economic cost in the year of providing housing 
services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded 
from rents and government grants. Councils charge rents to cover expenditure in accordance with 
regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost. The increase or decrease in the year, on the 
basis of which rents are raised, is shown in the Movement on the HRA Statement. 

The main differences between this and the way of accounting for the HRA balance being: 

1) Capital investment is accounted for as it is financed, rather than when the non-current assets are 
consumed. 
2) Retirement benefits are charged as amounts become payable to pensions funds and pensioners, 
rather than as future benefits are earned. 
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3) Impairment losses of £4.8m due to the assessed increase in council house values following capital 
expenditure (multiplied by the social housing discount factor) being less than actual capital expenditure. 
These are all reversed out in the following statement. 

Movement on the HRA Statement 

The HRA Balance compares the Council's spending against rents collected in the year, taking into account 
the use of reserves built up in the past and contributions to reserves earmarked for future expenditure. 
This reconciliation statement summarises the differences between the outturn on the HRA Income and 
Expenditure Account and the HRA Balance. 
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1 

Movement on HRA Balance 

Notes to the Housing Revenue Account 

Housing Stock 

At 31 March 2022, the council was responsible for managing 5,088 units of accommodation: 

Plus 11 basic homes (shared ownership dwellings). 
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The movement in housing stock can be summarised as follows: 

Following recent stock reviews it was identified that a one bedroom bungalow that was attached to a block 
of flats was recorded as a one bedroom flat on the housing system. This has now been rectified and 
restated above, the change to the overall stock valuation was not material. 

The balance sheet value of housing assets at 31 March was as follows: 

2 Vacant possession value 

The vacant possession value of dwellings within the HRA as at 31 March 2022 was £992m. For the 
balance sheet, the figure has been reduced to 33% i.e. £327m to show existing use value as social 
housing, reflecting the economic cost of providing social housing. 

3 Major Repairs Reserve 

With effect from 1 April 2002, the Government required that the housing accounts are produced on a 
Resource Accounting basis. This requires that a charge is made for depreciation which is transferred to a 
separate Major Repairs Reserve, to finance HRA capital projects. Housing subsidy included a grant in the 
form of a Major Repairs Allowance (MRA) to resource the Major Repairs Reserve. This was ring fenced 
for capital expenditure of a housing nature. The housing business plan following self financing replaced 
the subsidy grant with an allowance for capital expenditure which also resources the Major Repairs 
Reserve. 
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4 

5 

Summary of Capital Financing 

Capital expenditure of £6.28m was spent on housing assets within the HRA during the year. This was 
financed as follows: 

Summary of Capital Receipts 

Housing capital receipts during 2021/22 were as follows: 

6 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 

Depreciation of £4.18m was charged to the HRA. This comprises of £4.01m for dwellings and £167k for 
non-dwelling housing assets. 

7 Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 
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8 

9 

Dwelling rents (gross) 

This is the total rent income for dwellings for the year after allowance is made for voids etc. Average rents 
were £94.21 per payment week in 2021/22 (£92.53 in 2020/21). 

Rent Arrears 

The rent arrears figures are as follows: 

10 HRA share of pensions 

Under IAS19 there is a requirement to analyse the movement in the HRA share of the City Council's 
element of the Kent pension fund (see also note 28 to the core financial statements). However, so that 
there is no demand on housing rents, the entries are reversed out via the Pensions Reserve. The figures 
are as follows: 
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Notes to the Collection Fund accounts 

1. General Note 

The Collection Fund is an agent’s statement that reflects the statutory obligation for billing authorities to 
maintain a separate Collection Fund. The statement shows the transactions of the billing authority in 
relation to the collection from taxpayers and distribution to local authorities and the Government of council 
tax and non-domestic rates. 

2. Precepts and Demands 

Council Tax 

The payments to the major preceptors are made up as follows: 
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NNDR (Business Rates) 

The payments to Central Government and the major preceptors (excludes Kent Police and Crime 
Commissioner) are as follows: 

For NNDR, 
the 
Collection 
Fund 
balance is 
shared as a 
contribution 
towards the 
deficit in 
2021/22 
and a 
surplus in 
2020/21. 

In 2021/22, 
Canterbury 
chose to be not part of the Kent NNDR Pool (within the Pool in 2020/21) owing to concerns that a potential 
reduction in its business rates income could negatively impact on the overall Pool position. 

Canterbury City Council is subject to a tariff on its share of the retained business rates, the net amount 
retained by the council is as follows: 

3. Council Tax Base 

Council Tax income derives from charges raised according to the value of residential properties, which 
have been classified into eight valuation bands estimated at 1 April 1991 values for this specific purpose. 
The property valuations are carried out by the Valuation Office Agency. Individual charges are 
calculated by estimating the amount of income required to be taken from the Collection Fund by Kent 
County Council, Police and Crime Commissioner for Kent, Kent and Medway Fire and Rescue Authority 
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and the City Council and dividing this by the Council Tax Base. 

The Council's tax base, i.e. the number of chargeable dwellings in each valuation band (adjusted for 
dwellings where discounts apply) converted to an equivalent number of band D dwellings, was calculated 
as follows: 

4. Income from Business Rates 

Under the arrangements for uniform business rates, the Council collects non-domestic rates for its area 
which are based on local rateable values multiplied by a uniform rate in the pound. The total amount, less 
certain reliefs and other deductions, are allocated between Canterbury, central government and major 
preceptors. There was a general revaluation of all properties effective from 1 April 2017. 

Non domestic rateable value is at 31 March as provided by the Valuation Office. 2020/21 comparatives 
have been re-stated. The allowances and other adjustments is significantly different between years owing 
to the additional NNDR reliefs granted during the first year of the pandemic. 
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Group Statement 
of 

Accounts 
for the 

Year Ended 
31 March 2022 

(subject to audit) 
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Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the year ended 31 March 2022 

This statement shows the accounting cost of providing services in the year ended 31 March 2022, in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. The taxation position is 
shown in the Group Movement in Reserves Statement. 
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    Group Movement in Reserves Statement 

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Group, analysed into 'usable reserves' (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or 
reduce local taxation) and other reserves. The Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services line shows the true economic cost of providing the Group's services, more details of 
which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. These are different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance and 
Housing Revenue Account for council tax setting and dwellings rent setting purposes.  The net increase or decrease before transfers to/from earmarked reserves line shows the 
statutory General Fund balance and Housing Revenue Account balance before any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the Group. 

89 



90 



91 



   

                
                 

                  
                     

                  
            

Group Cash Flow Statement 

The Cash Flow Statement shows the Group's changes in cash and cash equivalents during the reporting period. 
The statement shows how the Group generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as 
operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key 
indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Group are funded by council tax and grant income or from the 
users of services provided by the Group. Investing activities represent the extent to which outflows have been made 
for resources which are intended to contribute to the Group's future service delivery. 
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ACCOUNTS 

1. Explanation of the Group Balance Sheet 

The Group Balance Sheet shows the value at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the Group. The group comprises Canterbury City Council and Canterbury 
Environment Company, a wholly owned subsidiary. The net assets of the Group (assets less 
liabilities) are matched by reserves held by the Group. Reserves are reported in two categories, 
usable and unusable reserves. Usable reserves can be used to provide services, subject to any 
statutory limitation on their use (for example, Capital Receipts Reserve may only be used to fund 
capital expenditure or to repay debt). Unusable reserves are those that the Group is not able to 
use to provide services and includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example, 
gains held in the Revaluation Reserve can only be used towards service provision if the assets are 
sold). 

2. Basis of Consolidation 

The Group Accounts have been prepared on the basis of a full consolidation of the financial 
transactions and balances of the Council and Canterbury Environment Company Ltd. This 
company is a wholly owned subsidiary. Consequently any gains or losses arising from this 
company are fully reflected in the Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the 
Group Balance Sheet, Group Movement in Reserves Statement and Group Cashflow Statement. 

Any intra-group charges and transactions are eliminated via the consolidation, such as contract 
payments, support service charges and loan interest payments. 

The 2021/22 accounts of Canterbury Environment Company Ltd remain subject to audit. 

3. Accounting Policies and Notes to the Group Financial Statements 

For the Group Financial Statements, there are no material differences, compared to the Council’s 
own notes to its accounts (including its accounting policies), requiring further disclosure. 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

The Council’s responsibilities 

The Council is required to: 

● make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its 
officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this Council, that officer is the 
Chief Financial Officer 

● manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its 
assets 

● approve the Statement of Accounts. 

The Chief Financial Officer’s responsibilities: 

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Council’s Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom (“the Code”). 

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Chief Financial Officer has: 

● selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently 

● made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent 

● complied with the local authority Code. 

The Chief Financial Officer has also: 

● kept proper accounting records which were up to date 

● taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council at the 
accounting date and its income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2022. 

Signed 

Nicci Mills Cllr 
Date Date 
Chief Financial Officer Chair Audit Committee 
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